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DECISION


The Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (MHTC) may seek civil penalties and injunctive relief in circuit court against Capco, Inc. (Capco) because Capco failed to have a drug testing program.  

Procedure


On March 17, 2003, the MHTC filed a verified complaint, which it amended by interlineation on April 7, 2003.  Capco was notified of the time and place of the hearing by personal service on June 11, 2003.  On August 19, 2003, Capco filed an “Entry of Appearance,” which included a motion for continuance.  


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on August 22, 2003.  David Woodside, the MHTC’s senior assistant counsel, represented the MHTC.  Capco made no appearance.  We denied its motion for continuance because it was not denominated as such, was not served on the MHTC as required by our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.270(1), and did not seek an extension of time to file an answer as required by our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1) or any other responsive pleading.  Our reporter filed the transcript on September 15, 2003.

Findings of Fact

1. Capco did business as American Salvage.  Capco’s president was Charles Michels.  Capco also employed Michels as its sole driver.  

2. Capco had one vehicle.  The vehicle had a gross weight rating greater than 26,001 pounds.  On December 17, 2001, Michels transported scrap metal for hire over Missouri highways in Capco’s vehicle. 

3. Small companies like Capco can contract with a drug testing laboratory to not only test their drivers, but to randomly select days on which to do the testing.  On December 17, 2001, Capco had no alcohol and drug testing program in place.  

Conclusions of Law

We hear the MHTC’s request for permission to file suit in circuit court under § 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2002.
  Capco has the burden of proof under § 622.350,
 which states:

In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the [MHTC], the burden of proof shall be upon the party adverse to the [MHTC] . . . to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the [MHTC] complained of is unreasonable or unlawful as the case may be.

(Emphasis added.)

The MHTC asks this Commission for permission to file suit in circuit court for injunctive relief under § 622.290.1 and monetary penalties under § 390.156.  Sections 390.176.1 and 622.480.1 provide the amount of civil penalties:

Any [motor carrier that] violates or fails to comply with any . . . law . . . is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense. 

(Emphasis added.)  Capco is a motor carrier, defined at § 390.020(18) as:

any person engaged in the transportation of property or passengers, or both, for compensation or hire, over the public roads of this state by motor vehicle.  The term includes both common and contract carriers[.]

(Emphasis added.)  

The MHTC argues that Capco violated federal regulation 49 CFR § 382.305(a).  The MHTC may enforce that provision under §§ 390.201 and 622.550:

[The MHTC] may enforce any of the provisions of Parts 350 through 399 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as those regulations have been and may periodically be amended, as they 

apply to motor vehicles and drivers operating in interstate or intrastate commerce within this state[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Federal Regulation 49 CFR § 382.305(a) provides:

Every employer shall comply with the requirements of this section.  Every driver shall submit to random alcohol and controlled substance testing as required in this section.

That regulation sets forth the requirements for such a program, including random testing.  Capco violated that regulation because it had no such program.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC may seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under §§ 390.176 and 622.480. 

Summary


Because Capco committed a violation of law, the MHTC may seek penalties against Capco in circuit court in an amount not less than $100 and not greater than $2,000, and injunctive relief.  


SO ORDERED on October 20, 2003.



________________________________



CHRISTOPHER GRAHAM



Commissioner

�Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2002, does not specifically vest us with jurisdiction to decide whether the MHTC may seek relief in circuit court, nor does any other statute.  It transfers to us the adjudicatory subject matter of the former Division of Transportation.  In performing those adjudications, we are mindful of the procedure set forth in State v. Carroll, 620 S.W.2d 22 (Mo. App., S.D. 1981).  In that case, the Southern District held that the Division of Transportation (MHTC’s predecessor for enforcement purposes) could not file suit for penalties in circuit court until “after a proper hearing” on whether to do so.  As authority, the Southern District cited State ex rel. Cirese v. Ridge, 138 S.W.2d 1012 (Mo. banc 1940).  In that case, the Missouri Supreme Court held that a private entity seeking injunctive relief against another private entity had an exclusive remedy in the Division of Transportation’s predecessor, the Public Service Commission.  In other words, Cirese held that private parties must seek injunctive-type relief from the agency instead of circuit court, but Carroll held that the agency must hold its own hearing before filing suit for penalties in circuit court.  620 S.W.2d at 24.  In State ex rel. Missouri Div. of Transp. v. Sure-Way Transp., 884 S.W.2d 349, 353 n.5 (Mo. App., W.D. 1994), the Western District of the Court of Appeals questioned the Carroll procedure:





Section 390.156 does not give jurisdiction to the Division’s administrative law judge to consider a penalty action.  It requires that the Division prove its case before a circuit judge, not before one of its administrative law judges. . . .  At the minimum, we question whether review by the Division’s administrative law judge must be made in an adversarial hearing.  However, because this issue is not before us, we leave that decision for another case.





Thus, the Western District indicated its willingness to depart from Carroll, but did not have the opportunity to do so.  The Western District’s reading is persuasive.  However, Carroll still requires the MHTC to bring a contested case before filing suit in circuit court for penalties.  





�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.  


	�The MHTC’s complaint also cites § 307.400.1, which provides:


It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle licensed for more than twelve thousand pounds either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in section 301.010, RSMo, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . . 





(emphasis added) and Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1), which reiterates that requirement.  However, 49 CFR § 382.115(a) is in part 382 of 49 CFR, not parts 390 to 397.  Therefore, §307.400.1 and Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1) do not apply to a violation 49 CFR § 382.115(a).
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